UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)		
Plaintiff,)		
v.)	Civil Action No.:	
)		
THE CITY OF AUSTIN,)		
TEXAS,)		
)		
Defendant.)		

CONSENT DECREE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	BACKGROUND	1
II.	STIPULATIONS	2
III.	RELIEF UNDER THIS DECREE	8
A	A. DEFINITIONS AND PARTIES	9
I	B. PURPOSES OF THIS CONSENT DECREE	9
(C. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF	10
	1. General Injunctive Relief	10
	2. Interim Hiring Process	10
	3. Recruitment of Firefighters	11
	4. Decree Compliance Officer	12
	5. Claims Administrator	13
	6. Use of Lawful Selection Procedures	14
Ι	D. FAIRNESS HEARING ON TERMS OF CONSENT DECREE	18
F	E. ENTRY OF THE CONSENT DECREE	21
F	F. INDIVIDUAL RELIEF	22
	1. Settlement Fund	22
	2. Monetary Relief Awards from the Settlement Fund	22
	3. Preliminary Eligibility for Individual Relief	23
	4. Potentially Eligible Claimants to Submit Interest in Relief Form	24
	5. Priority Hiring Relief and Retroactive Seniority	25
	6. Determination of Claimants' Eligibility for Individual Relief	29

DRAFT 4/29/2014

7. Filing of Individual Relief Lists	30
8. Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief	30
9. Approval of Final Backpay Awards List and Final Priority Hire Candidate List	33
10. Notice of Individual Relief Awards and Acceptance and Release	33
G. RECORD RETENTION AND PRODUCTION	37
V. DISPUTE RESOLUTION	38
V. DURATION OF CONSENT DECREE	39
VI. COSTS AND FEES	40
VII MISCELL ANEOLIS	40

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A	Definitions
APPENDIX B	Interim Hiring Process Under Paragraph III.C.2
APPENDIX C	Notice of Settlement and Fairness Hearing, Instruction for Filing an Objection to the Terms of the Consent Decree, and Objection to the Entry of Consent Decree Form
APPENDIX D	Notice of Entry of Consent Decree and Interest in Relief Form
APPENDIX E	Procedures for Priority Hiring Relief Under Paragraph III.F.5
APPENDIX F	Cover Letter re Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief
APPENDIX G	Instructions on Filing an Objection to Individual Relief and Objection Form
APPENDIX H	Notice of Award of Individual Relief
APPENDIX I	Acceptance of Backpay and/or Consideration for Priority Hire Job Offer and Release of Claims

I. BACKGROUND

This action was brought by the United States against the City of Austin ("City") to enforce the provisions of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e *et seq.*, as amended ("Title VII"). This Court has jurisdiction of this action under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-6 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1343(a)(3) and 1345.

In its Complaint, the United States alleges that the City has engaged in unlawful employment practices by utilizing selection procedures that have the effect of depriving or tending to deprive African Americans and Hispanics of employment opportunities because of their race and/or national origin, in violation of Section 703(a) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). The United States does not allege in its Complaint that the City engaged in intentional discrimination.

Specifically, the United States alleges that the City's pass/fail use of an entry-level fire cadet written examination and its processing of entry-level fire cadet applicants in descending rank-order, have each resulted in an adverse impact upon African-American and Hispanic applicants for fire cadet positions. The United States further alleges that these practices have not been shown to be sufficiently job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity.

This action alleges disparate impact discrimination. The United States does not allege in its Complaint that the City has intentionally discriminated against any person or group of persons under Title VII.

II. STIPULATIONS

The City denies that it has violated Title VII. Nevertheless, the United States and the City, desiring that this action be settled by an appropriate consent decree ("Decree") and without the burdens of protracted litigation, agree to the jurisdiction of this Court over the Parties and the subject matter of this action. The United States and the City further agree to the entry of this Decree as final and binding between themselves as to the issues raised in the United States' Complaint in this action. Subject to the Court's approval of this Decree, the Parties waive findings of fact and conclusions of law on all issues, except as to the following, which the Parties stipulate and which the Court finds¹:

Background of the Firefighter Hiring Process

A. The City hires entry-level firefighters through a competitive selection process. That selection process is governed in part by Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code, which establishes certain requirements for entry-level hiring within the fire departments of cities – including the City of Austin – that have adopted its provisions. During the years at issue in this case, the City's hiring process has also been governed in part by the terms of a collective bargaining agreement between the City and the Austin Firefighters Association, Local 975, a labor organization that represents Austin firefighters. That agreement expired in October 2013, and there is no bargaining agreement in effect as of the date of this Decree.

¹ The facts are based on the declarations of the United States' experts, which are attached to the Parties' joint memorandum in support of entry of this Decree.

- B. During the years at issue in this case, the City's hiring process has been a multi-step, sequential process in which applicants were required to meet minimum standards at each step in order to move forward to the next step in the process. In general, the design of the hiring process included a written application, a written cognitive-behavioral skills assessment, an oral skills assessment, and other pre-employment assessments.² All applicants who successfully completed the application step were invited to take the written cognitivebehavioral skills assessment, which was administered to all applicants at the same time and in the same location. After the cognitive-behavioral assessments were scored, some or all of the applicants were invited to participate in the oral skills assessments, which were administered several weeks later. In 2012, some of those applicants who achieved a successful score on the oral skills assessment were invited to participate in the battery of other pre-employment assessments. Applicants who successfully passed these other assessments would be placed on a ranked eligibility list for hiring based on their scores on the cognitive and oral assessments. Applicants were then offered job positions with the Austin Fire Department in rank order from the eligibility list.
- C. Applicants selected from the eligibility list receive an offer of employment to become a fire cadet, which is the entry-level position in the Austin Fire Department. The fire cadet position is a trainee position in which the fire cadets undergo roughly six months of full time classroom and field work conducted at the Austin Fire Department's training academy. Fire

-

² The City's other pre-employment assessments included a physical ability test, criminal background screening, psychological and medical testing, and drug testing. These assessments are not at issue in this litigation.

cadets are required to pass several assessments during this training, including obtaining required certifications from the State of Texas as both firefighters and emergency medical technicians. Following completion of their six-month training program and successful completion of their state certifications, fire cadets are commissioned as probationary firefighters. They remain in probationary status for several additional months, during which they participate in further training and testing.

The 2012 Hiring Process

- D. In 2012, the selection process used by the City in the screening and selection of applicants for the fire cadet position included the administration of a written cognitive-behavioral examination called the National Firefighter Selection Inventory ("NFSI"). Applicants could not be considered further for the fire cadet position unless they took and passed the NFSI. Use of the NFSI specifically as the written cognitive assessment was a requirement of the collective bargaining agreement then in effect between the City and Local 975. That collective bargaining agreement has since expired.
- E. In May 2012, as part of the fire cadet selection process, the City administered the NFSI to approximately 2,600 applicants who met minimum qualifications, including approximately 1,114 white applicants, approximately 328 African-American applicants and approximately 902 Hispanic applicants. The City set the passing score for the NFSI at 70 (nominal passing score).
- F. On the same day, the City also administered a second written test, the Integrity Inventory (I2).

- G. Applicants who achieved a passing score of 70 on the NFSI, achieved a passing score on the I2, and who were also among the top 1,500 NFSI scorers were invited to participate in an oral assessment called the Structured Oral Interview ("SOI").
- H. The City's decision to administer the SOI assessment only to those NFSI and I2 passers who were also among the top 1,500 NFSI scorers resulted in the elimination of NFSI and I2 passers who scored less than 75.06 on the NFSI (effective passing score).
- I. In 2012, both African-American and Hispanic applicants on average passed the NFSI at a lower rate than white applicants, using either the nominal or the effective passing score. The disparity in pass rates is statistically significant and sufficient to establish a *prima facie* case of disparate impact discrimination under Title VII.
- J. Applicants who passed the SOI were placed on an eligibility list in descending rank-order based on their total scores. Total scores were created by combining NFSI scores, weighted one-third, and SOI scores weighted two-thirds, then adding military points where applicable.
- K. The City processed applicants for further consideration in descending rank order based on applicants' total scores.
- L. In 2012, both African-American and Hispanic applicants on average ranked lower on the eligibility list than white applicants. The disparity in rankings is statistically significant and sufficient to establish a *prima facie* case of disparate impact discrimination under Title VII.
- M. Absent the disparate impact resulting from the City's pass/fail use of the NFSI and from the City's determination and use of total scores to process applicants in descending rank order,

the United States estimates that an additional 12 African-American applicants would have been offered employment as fire cadets from the 2012 list. The City does not contest this estimate.

- N. Absent the disparate impact resulting from the City's pass/fail use of the NFSI and from the City's determination and use of total scores to process applicants in descending rank order, the United States estimates that an additional 18 Hispanic applicants would have been offered employment as fire cadets from the 2012 list. The City does not contest this estimate.
- O. The United States contends that the City cannot demonstrate that its use of the NFSI as a pass/fail screening device is sufficiently job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity.³
- P. The United States contends that the City cannot demonstrate that its use of total scores to process applicants from eligibility lists in descending rank order in 2012 is job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity.⁴
- Q. The United States contends that the amount of seniority lost by African-American and Hispanic applicants from 2012 to the present as a result of the City's pass/fail use of the

³ The United States does not contend in this action that the City's use of the SOI assessment was unlawful.

⁴ The United States also contends that alternative Selection Devices exist to select candidates for entry-level firefighter positions that would have served the City's legitimate needs and that have been demonstrated to have less adverse impact. Since these stipulations proceed under the theory that the challenged employment practices are not sufficiently demonstrably job related and consistent with business necessity, it is unnecessary to set forth these alternatives.

NFSI and from the City's determination and use of total scores to process applicants in descending rank order exceeds the seniority awarded to Claimants under this Decree. The City does not contest this contention.

R. The United States represents that the relief provided by this Decree does not exceed makewhole relief to individuals who would be considered victims of the practices challenged by the United States, and the procedures set forth in this Decree for identifying claimants and allocating relief among them is lawful, reasonable and equitable.

The 2013 Hiring Process

- S. In 2013, the City changed both the written cognitive test instrument and the oral test instrument used in its fire cadet hiring process, and changed the weighting of the scores on these assessments used to arrive at a total score.
- T. The 2013 written cognitive-behavioral examination was the National Entry-Level Firefighter examination ("NELF"). The oral test instrument was an assessment created by the same vendor who provided the NELF.
- U. In May 2013, the City administered the NELF to over 2,500 applicants, of whom approximately 1,037 were white, approximately 361 were African-American, and approximately 1,112 were Hispanic.
- V. All applicants who took the NELF were invited to take the oral assessment. In July 2013, the City administered the oral assessment to over 2,000 applicants of whom approximately 714

were white, approximately 231 were African American, and approximately 803 were Hispanic.

- W. The City initially proposed to hire applicants based on a combination of NELF scores, created using responses to the cognitive items only, and SOI scores, with NELF scores accounting for 20 percent of the composite score and oral assessment scores accounting for 80 percent of the composite score. The City proposed to add military points to that composite to arrive at a total score. The City would then process candidates in descending rank order based on total scores.
- X. After initially calculating scores for those who took both the NELF and Structured Oral Interview in 2013, the United States advised the City that it believed that ranking applicants based on their total scores and processing them in descending rank order will have adverse impact on both Hispanic and African-American applicants, and that the disparities between rankings of applicants in those groups and of white applicants are statistically significant. The City does not dispute these statistical findings.
- Y. The United States contends, and for purposes of this Decree the City does not dispute, that acceptable job-related alternatives exist that are equally valid and result in less adverse impact.

III. RELIEF UNDER THIS DECREE

In resolution of this action, with the consent of the Parties, IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED as follows:

A. DEFINITIONS AND PARTIES

- The "Parties" to this Decree are the United States, by the Department of Justice ("United States"), and the City of Austin, Texas ("City").
- 2. Terms used in Part III of this Decree shall have the meanings set forth in Appendix A to this Decree, unless expressly stated otherwise.

B. PURPOSES OF THIS CONSENT DECREE

The purposes of this Decree are to ensure that:

- 1. The City does not violate Title VII by using policies or practices that have an adverse impact upon either African-American or Hispanic applicants for the position of fire cadet and are not sufficiently job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity, or that otherwise violate the Title VII rights of African American or Hispanic applicants to become fire cadets; and
- 2. The City utilizes lawful selection procedures that will serve the purposes of ensuring that fire cadet hiring is based on merit and that the City's selection procedure does not unnecessarily exclude qualified African-American and Hispanic applicants; and
- 3. The City provides, as appropriate, monetary relief and/or priority appointment relief with retroactive seniority to qualified persons who were denied a job as a fire cadet due to the employment practices challenged by the United States in this case.

C. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

1. General Injunctive Relief

- a. Except as provided in this Decree, the City, its officials, agents, employees, and successors, and all persons acting on behalf or in active concert or participation with it, are enjoined from using any Selection Device for the position of fire cadet that has an adverse impact upon African-American or Hispanic applicants on the basis of race and is not sufficiently job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity, or otherwise does not meet the requirements of Title VII.
- b. The City is specifically enjoined from using any written cognitive assessment test as part of its selection process for fire cadets in any manner that results in disparate impact upon African-American or Hispanic applicants and is not shown to be sufficiently job related or consistent with business necessity under Title VII or, if job related and consistent with business necessity under Title VII, from refusing to adopt an alternative employment practice that exists within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(k)(1)(A)(ii).

2. Interim Hiring Process

a. The United States contends, and the City does not contest, that the City's
proposed use of the Selection Devices administered in 2013 would result in
unlawful disparate impact against African-American and Hispanic applicants. As

a result, the City suspended the 2013 hiring process prior to the filing of this action.

b. The Parties recognize that proper development of a new, lawful hiring process will take time, and that the City has immediate operational needs that may require the hiring of fire cadets prior to the implementation of a new hiring process in accord with Paragraph III.C.6 of this Decree. If so, in order to address the City's immediate operational need to staff its fire department while mitigating the potential adverse impact resulting from use of the 2013 Selection Devices, the Parties agree that the City may process applicants and hire fire cadets from among those individuals who completed both the NELF cognitive assessment and oral assessment in 2013 using the process set out in Appendix B to this Decree, which allows the list generated from that process to be used on a limited basis.

3. Recruitment of Firefighters

a. In order to encourage qualified Hispanics and African Americans to apply for fire cadet positions, the City shall, within 60 days of the Date of Entry of this Decree, develop and submit to the United States a written recruitment plan for fire cadets. The recruitment plan shall include recruitment objectives, staffing, budget, media to be used, and a description of how the City intends to make the public aware of employment opportunities as an Austin fire cadet and firefighter. The City shall appoint one or more of its Fire Department employees to coordinate and participate in recruitment activities as part of the employees' regular duties.

- b. The City shall advertise the dates and times of its application period and the administration of its selection procedures for fire cadet by: (a) issuing testing announcements at least 60 days prior to the closing date for submitting an application; (b) advertising in the <u>Austin American-Statesman</u> at least thirty (30) days prior to the closing date; (c) posting fire cadet testing announcements on the City's website with a link to the applicable application for at least 45 days prior to the closing date; (d) posting fire cadet testing announcements in each City Department where job announcements are posted at least 45 days prior to the closing date; (e) sending a copy of each such testing announcement at least 45 days prior to the closing date to the Texas Workforce Commission for statewide distribution and to the placement officer of each two-year and four-year post-secondary school in the Austin area.
- c. The City shall make its applications for fire cadet positions available on its website, and shall permit fire cadet applicants to submit applications through its online application process.

4. Decree Compliance Officer

The City shall designate a person who shall be primarily responsible for enforcing the provisions of this Decree. This person's responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to, ensuring that the City fully implements and complies with all paragraphs of this Decree, and receiving complaints of discrimination on the basis of race and/or national origin in the screening, selection and appointment of entry-level firefighters.

5. Claims Administrator

- a. Within 30 days following the execution of this Decree by the Parties, the City shall enter into a contract with a Claims Administrator, selected by the City and subject to the approval of the United States, to assist the Parties with the notice and claims procedure for individual relief. The City shall bear all costs and expenses of the Claims Administrator, and the City's contract, also subject to the United States' approval, will require that the Claims Administrator comply with the provisions of this Decree as applicable to the Claims Administrator. The cost of the Claims Administrator shall be in addition to, and not deducted from, amounts designated as Backpay under this Decree.
- b. The Claims Administrator's contract will require the Claims Administrator to work under the control and supervision of the United States, the City, and the Court in the conduct of its activities, including reporting regularly to and providing all reasonably requested information to the United States, the City of Austin, and the Court.⁵
- c. Within 14 days following the effective date of the City's contract with the Claims

_

⁵ In the event the United States or the City has reason to believe that the Claims Administrator is not materially complying with the terms of its contract with the City, the United States and the City will meet and confer for the purpose of mutually agreeing upon a course of action to effect the Claims Administrator's material compliance with its contract with the City. In the event that the United States and the City are unable to agree upon a course of action to effect the Claims Administrator's material compliance with its contract with the City, the Parties may present the matter to the Court.

Administrator, the City shall provide the Claims Administrator with a mailing list in suitable electronic format of the names and last known mailing addresses and email addresses of all persons and other entitled to notice under Part III.D of this Decree.

6. Use of Lawful Selection Procedures

The City will use lawful selection procedures to select qualified applicants for hiring into the position of fire cadet as set forth below.

- a. If a Selection Device(s) used by the City has statistically significant disparate impact on African Americans or Hispanics, it must be shown to be job related for the fire cadet position in Austin and consistent with business necessity in accord with Title VII. In deciding to use a Selection Device, the City shall make reasonable efforts to explore the availability of Selection Devices which have been shown to reduce or eliminate disparate impact upon African-Americans and Hispanics in the selection of fire cadets without diminution of job-relatedness. If it identifies such alternatives, it must use them, subject to any objections raised by the City to the cost of such alternatives, which shall be resolved by agreement of the Parties or by the Court if the Parties cannot agree.
- b. The City will inform the United States not later than 60 days before any planned administration of a new Selection Device(s). At that time, the United States may request all information available to the City about the development and/or validation of the proposed Selection Device(s), including but not limited to: a description of the Selection Device(s); a description of the manner in which the City intends to use the

Selection Device(s); the known or likely disparate impact, if any, of the intended use of the Selection Device(s); all validation studies, analyses, test plans, and any other evidence of job relatedness of the Selection Device(s) available to the City, including data underlying such studies, analyses, test plans, and other evidence; and any basis for a conclusion that the City's proposed use of the Selection Device(s) is job related for the fire cadet position and consistent with business necessity. The City's submission shall also identify any other Selection Devices, as well as any other manners of using the chosen Selection Device(s), considered by the City. If the United States does not notify the City in writing that the United States has an objection within 15 business days of receiving the City's complete submission, the City may administer the Selection Device(s).

c. After administering any Selection Device(s) and before announcing the results to candidates or deciding upon the method of use, in recognition that the job-relatedness and validity of an exam can often be evaluated fully only after the exam has been administered, the City will provide to the United States in Excel format the name, unique identifier, race, national origin, exam score and any applicable sub-scores, and test form identification for all applicants to whom the Selection Device was administered. At the same time, the City will cause its testing vendor to provide to the United States the answer keys and test question responses for each candidate for each Selection Device. If the United States determines that the City's proposed use of the Selection Device(s) does not comply with Title VII and with this Decree, the United States shall notify the City in writing within 15 business days of receiving the

- above-listed information that the United States objects to the City's use of the Selection Device(s).
- d. Upon completion of the administration of all components of the City's fire cadet selection process upon which any eligibility list may be based, the City will provide to the United States in Excel format the name, unique identifier, race, national origin, scores and applicable sub-scores on all components of the selection process, any applicable combined and/or final scores, military or other bonus points, and ranks for each applicant who participated in the selection process, if applicable. If after the administration of all components of the City's selection process on which any eligibility list may be based, the United States determines that the City's selection process does not comply with Title VII and with this Decree, the United States shall notify the City in writing within 15 business days of receiving the above-listed information that the United States objects to the City's selection process.
- e. Any objection(s) to the City's use of a Selection Device or overall selection process made by the United States pursuant to Subparagraphs c or d, above, shall be resolved under the dispute resolution procedures in Part IV of this Decree. If either Party submits any such objection(s) to the Court for resolution under Part IV.A, the Parties agree that the burdens of proof set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(k) shall apply in resolving such objection(s). If the Court determines that the City's proposed Selection Device, manner of use or overall process does not comply with Title VII, the City shall not use that Selection Device in that manner or shall not employ that process without whatever modifications the Court may order. If an objection to the

City's use of a Selection Device for the fire cadet position or overall hiring process for the fire cadet position is made by the United States pursuant to this Paragraph, no person shall be certified for appointment as a fire cadet except by written agreement of the Parties or order of the Court.

- f. Following the administration of a fire cadet hiring process that was subject to the review and objection procedures set forth in Subparagraphs a-e, above, the City shall be authorized to administer and use the Selection Device(s) agreed to by the Parties pursuant to Subparagraph b above, or ordered by the Court pursuant to Subparagraph e, above, during the life of this Decree, subject to the requirements of Subparagraph g, below. For any subsequent administrations, the City will provide the United States with at least 90 days' notice of its intent to announce a new fire cadet selection process. The City's notice shall state whether the City intends to administer the same Selection Devices and overall selection processes as previously agreed to by the Parties or ordered by the Court, or whether it intends to make any changes to the Selection Devices or their manner of use.
- g. If the City intends to make any changes to the Selection Devices or their manner of use in a subsequent administration of a fire cadet hiring process, the review and objection procedures set forth in Subparagraphs b through e, above, shall apply. If the City does not intend to make any changes to the Selection Devices or their manner of use in a subsequent administration of a fire cadet hiring process, including the limited use of the 2013 exam set forth in this Decree, the City will produce to the United States the data and information required by Subparagraphs b through d, above,

for the subsequent administration.

h. Due to the importance of test security, along with concerns about the proprietary nature of test development materials, all correspondence and communications between and among the Parties and their test developers, consultants and/or experts in connection with performance of the obligations set forth in Subparagraphs b through d, above, shall be held confidential and shall not be disclosed to any third party in the absence of a Court order compelling such disclosure, or the written consent of the adverse party, or as otherwise required by law.

D. FAIRNESS HEARING ON TERMS OF CONSENT DECREE

- 1. Upon execution of this Decree, the Parties shall promptly file a joint motion for the provisional approval and entry of the Decree by the Court and request a Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree to allow the Court to determine whether the terms of the Decree are fair, reasonable and consistent with Title VII. The Parties will request that the Court provide at least one hundred (100) days' notice of the date and time set for this Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree.
- 2. The purpose of the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree and the related notification provisions of this Decree is to provide to all persons who may be affected by the terms of the Decree notice and an opportunity to present objections prior to final entry of the Decree, in accordance with Section 703(n) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(n).
- 3. No later than 60 days prior to the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree,

the Claims Administrator shall provide a copy of a Notice of Settlement and Fairness

Hearing, Instructions for Filing an Objection to the Terms of the Consent Decree, and a

blank Objection to the Entry of the Consent Decree, in the formats set forth in Appendix

C:

- a. Via electronic mail, with tracking capability, to the last known e-mail address of each Claimant identified as preliminarily eligible for relief under Paragraph III.F.4, below. However, if an e-mail is not opened within seven days of the day it is sent, the City will send a Notice of Settlement and Fairness Hearing, Instructions for Filing an Objection to the Terms of the Consent Decree, and a blank Objection to the Entry of the Consent Decree, with a cover letter in the formats set forth in Appendix C via first-class U.S. mail to the last known address of that individual;
- b. To each applicant in the City's 2013 hiring process who took and completed both the NELF examination and the 2013 oral assessment;
- c. To each Fire Cadet and Firefighter, as defined in Appendix A, via hand delivery at the place of the person's employment, by certified mail with return receipt requested, or as an attachment to or enclosure with each such person's regularly distributed paycheck; and
- d. Via certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, to each union or association recognized as being authorized to represent firefighters in Austin.

- 4. At or before the time notices are provided pursuant to Paragraphs 3.a 3.c, above, the City shall provide to the United States a list stating the name and last known mailing address and email address of each person or entity to whom such notice is being sent.
- 5. In addition, the City shall publish a notice, in a form substantially the same as contained in the cover letter in Appendix C to this Decree, in the Wednesday, Friday and Sunday editions of the *Austin American-Statesman*. The published notice shall appear with a headline in bold typeface, surrounded by a dark border, shall be no smaller than 6 inches by 10 inches in size, and shall be placed in the local news section or other prominent location agreed to by the Parties. All such newspaper notices shall be published for five (5) days, concluding no later than 60 days prior to the date set for the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree. The notice should also appear in the same format on the "Current Applicants" website of the Austin Fire Department, using the same web address as was used for 2012 and 2013 fire cadet applicants to check their application status.
- 6. Persons who wish to object to the terms of the Decree shall file objections, in accordance with the requirements set forth in Appendix C, and as follows:
 - a. Objections shall state the objector's name, address and telephone number; set forth a specific description of the objector's basis for objecting; include copies of any documentation supporting the objections; state the name and address of the objector's counsel, if any; and state whether the objector wishes the opportunity to be heard in Court at the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree.

- Objections shall be mailed to the Claims Administrator at the address provided for this purpose by the Claims Administrator to the Parties.
- c. Objections must be mailed and postmarked to the Claims Administrator no later than thirty (30) days prior to the date set for the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree. Any person who fails to do so shall be deemed to have waived any right to object to the terms of this Decree, except for good cause as determined by the United States and approved by the Court if the City of Austin objects to the United States' determination. The Claims Administrator shall promptly email copies of all objections it receives to the Parties.
- 7. No later than 10 days prior to the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree, the United States shall file with the Court copies of all objections received from the Claims Administrator. In addition, no later than 10 days prior to the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree, the Parties shall file their responses, if any, to all objections received from the Claims Administrator.

E. ENTRY OF THE CONSENT DECREE

If the Court determines that the terms of this Decree are fair, reasonable, and consistent with Title VII, the Court shall enter the Decree at or following the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree.

F. INDIVIDUAL RELIEF

1. Settlement Fund

Within 30 days after the Date of Entry of this Decree by the Court, the City shall set aside the sum of \$780,000.00 in its payroll account (with these funds hereinafter referred to as the "Settlement Fund").

2. Monetary Relief Awards from the Settlement Fund

- a. The Settlement Fund shall be used by the City to make Backpay awards to eligible
 African-American and Hispanic Claimants.
- b. The City shall be responsible for and remit to the appropriate taxing authorities the employer portion of all federal and state payroll taxes applicable on any monetary relief award paid to a Claimant, including employer contributions to Medicare and the Social Security fund. Such taxes shall not be deducted from any Claimant's monetary relief award, and such amounts shall not be payable from the Settlement Fund.
- c. To the extent required by law, the City shall withhold from each Claimant's monetary relief award the employee portions of all federal and state payroll taxes, including federal income taxes, Medicare and Social Security taxes, and any other applicable taxes. Such amounts shall be deducted from the Settlement Fund, and the City shall remit such amounts to the appropriate taxing authorities in accord with applicable law.

3. Preliminary Eligibility for Individual Relief

- a. Claimants potentially eligible for relief under this Decree include all African-American and Hispanic applicants for the fire cadet position in 2012 who took the NFSI and either:
 - Were considered by the City to have failed the NFSI because they received a score of less than 70 but passed the I2;
 - ii. Were not permitted to proceed to the SOI because they received a score of less than 75.06 but passed the I2; or
 - iii. Passed the NFSI with a score of 75.06 or higher and passed the I2, but ranked below the last applicant appointed from the 2012 eligibility list.
- b. Potentially eligible Claimants as defined in this Paragraph who are hired through the Interim Hiring Process in Appendix B remain eligible to seek monetary relief and retroactive seniority. In order to be eligible for monetary relief under this Decree, a Claimant need not express an interest in, or be eligible for, a Priority Hire position or accept an offer of employment from the City.
- c. Within 30 days after the date of final entry of this Decree, the City shall provide to the Claims Administrator mailing addresses and email addresses of all potentially eligible Claimants. Within 14 days following receipt of this information the Claims Administrator shall send each potentially eligible Claimant a copy of the Notice of Entry of Consent Decree and Interest-in-Relief Form attached to this Decree as Appendix D.
 Such notice shall be sent by e-mail and by certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, to

the addresses provided by the City.

- d. The Claims Administrator shall keep records of all notices sent pursuant to Paragraph 4.b. that are returned as undeliverable. Within 21 days of the mailing of the notices required by Paragraph 3.b, the Claims Administrator shall provide to the United States and the City a list of all delivered and undelivered notices, and a copy of all notices, envelopes and mail receipts for all persons to whom a notice was sent.
- e. The Claims Administrator will conduct a reasonable search for an alternative address for any potentially eligible Claimant whose notice was returned as undeliverable, then promptly re-mail the notice to the alternative address for that individual by certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested. If requested, the City shall provide to the Claims Administrator any information reasonably available to the City that may allow the Claims Administrator to locate an alternative address for any person whose notice was returned as undeliverable.

4. Potentially Eligible Claimants to Submit Interest in Relief Form

a. Any Claimant who wishes to be considered for an award of individual relief under this

Decree must return the completed Interest in Relief Form (Appendix D) to the Claims

Administrator no later than 75 days from the Date of Entry of this Decree. Any Claimant who fails to do so shall be deemed to have waived any right to be considered for an award of individual relief under this Decree, except for good cause as determined by the United States and approved by the Court if the City objects to the United States' determination.

- b. The date the Interest in Relief Form was mailed or otherwise delivered to the Claims

 Administrator shall be deemed the date of return of the Claimant's form. In the event an

 Interest-in-Relief Form is returned by U.S. mail, but no date of mailing is indicated by a

 postmark of the United States Postal Service, or if the postmark is illegible, the date of
 return of the Interest in Relief Form shall be deemed to be five days prior to the date the
 form was received by the Claims Administrator.
- c. As soon as practicable upon receipt of an Interest in Relief Form, the Claims Administrator will forward copies of each returned Interest in Relief Form to the United States and to the City via electronic mail, to addresses to be specified by the Parties.

5. Priority Hiring Relief and Retroactive Seniority

The Decree contemplates a process in which the United States creates a list of those preliminarily eligible for priority hire. The Court will then approve a final Priority Hire Candidate List following the fairness hearing on individual relief. The individuals on that approved list will be eligible to participate in the process described in Appendix E, and based on that process, the City will create the Priority Hire List.

a. All Claimants who (i) submit a timely Interest in Relief form under Paragraph 4, above, and (ii) indicate affirmatively an interest in a Priority Hire position on their Interest in Relief form, shall be included in the process for determining Priority Hires described in this Paragraph.

- b. Following the fairness hearing on individual relief described in Paragraph III.F.8 below, and the administration of the new lawful selection procedure developed under the Decree, the City shall create Priority Hire Lists of qualified candidates following the procedures in Appendix E. The names and scores of Claimants on the Priority Hire Lists shall remain confidential between the Parties and shall not be disclosed except by order of the Court, or as otherwise required by law.
- c. The City shall provide each Priority Hire List created under Appendix E to the United States within five business days after it is created. The United States may object to any Claimant on a Priority Hire List by providing written notice of such objection to the City within 10 business days of its receipt of the Priority Hire List. The United States and the City shall meet and confer in good faith to resolve any objections made by the United States. If the Parties are unable to resolve any objection(s), either Party may submit the issue to the Court for determination. The Court will find that any objection by the United States to a Claimant on a Priority Hire List is well-founded only if the United States establishes that the presence or position of the Claimant on the Priority Hire List did not comply with the selection process established in this Decree.
- d. Upon completion of the objection process described in Subparagraph c, above, the City shall designate 30 fire cadet job positions as Priority Hire positions. These Priority Hire positions shall be allocated as follows: twelve (12) shall be filled by Claimants from the approved African-American Priority Hire List; and eighteen (18) shall be filled by Claimants from the approved Hispanic Priority Hire List.

- e. The City shall offer employment as a fire cadet in the first cadet academy starting after completion of the selection process in Subparagraph c, above, to the Claimants in the highest six (6) places on the African American Priority Hire List, and the Claimants in the highest nine (9) places on the Hispanic Priority Hire List.
- f. The City shall offer employment as a fire cadet in the second cadet academy starting after completion of the selection process in Subparagraph c, above, to the Claimants in the remaining highest six (6) places on the African American Priority Hire List, and the Claimants in the remaining highest nine (9) places on the Hispanic Priority Hire List.
- g. The City shall make offers of employment to Claimants on the Priority Hire Lists in writing by e-mail with tracking capability to each Claimant's last known e-mail address and by certified U.S. mail (return receipt requested). The offer of employment shall prominently indicate:
 - i. That the offer is a Priority Hire offer made pursuant to this Decree;
 - That upon the successful completion of the fire cadet academy and commissioning as an Austin firefighter, the Claimant will be entitled to Retroactive Seniority as provided by this Decree;
 - iii. The beginning salary and the benefits the Claimant will receive if the offer is accepted, as well as the salary and benefits the Claimant will be eligible to receive after successful completion of the fire cadet training academy;

- iv. The date on which the Claimant will begin the fire cadet academy if the offer is accepted;
- v. The respective telephone numbers and names at which the Claimant may contact the United States and the City with any questions regarding the Priority Hire offer; and
- vi. That the Claimant has at least 15 days from the date on which the written offer of employment was sent to notify the City in writing whether the Claimant accepts the offer. Failure to do so shall constitute rejection of the offer and shall disqualify the Claimant from further eligibility for a Priority Hire.
- h. Each Claimant who accepts an employment offer under Paragraph 5 shall be deemed a Priority Hire for purposes of meeting the City's obligation under Subparagraph d, above. Acceptance of an employment offer under Paragraph 5, above, shall constitute an automatic withdrawal by the Claimant from any other Austin Fire Department hiring process in which the Claimant may be an active candidate at that time.
- i. The City shall notify the United States within seven days of any rejection by a Claimant of a Priority Hire offer of employment, and shall provide the United States with a copy of any written rejection from the Claimant.
- j. In the event a Claimant rejects a Priority Hire offer of employment, or begins employment as a fire cadet but subsequently resigns, dies, or is involuntarily terminated from employment prior to the date the Claimant is commissioned as an Austin firefighter,

the City shall make a Priority Hire offer of employment to the highest remaining Claimant from the same Priority Hire List for a position in the next fire cadet academy. If that occurs, the Claimant accepting the employment offer shall be counted in place of the first Claimant for purposes of the meeting the City's priority hiring obligation in Subparagraph d, above.

k. On the date a Priority Hire is commissioned as a probationary firefighter following successful completion of the fire cadet academy, the City shall credit the Priority Hire with Retroactive Seniority as provided in Appendix A in the City's personnel and payroll records.

6. Determination of Claimants' Eligibility for Individual Relief

- a. The United States, with the assistance of the Claims Administrator, shall determine each Claimant's Backpay share of the Settlement Fund such that the shares are distributed pro rata among all eligible and interested Claimants. The United States and the City, with the assistance of the Claims Administrator, shall determine the Claimants eligible to participate in the Priority Hire selection process under Appendix E.
- b. No later than 105 days after the Date of Entry of this Decree, the United States shall provide the City with: (i) a preliminary Backpay Awards List that identifies all Claimants it finds potentially eligible for Backpay relief based on the Interest in Relief forms received by the Claims Administrator, and (ii) a preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List that identifies all Claimants it finds eligible to participate in the Priority Hire selection process under Appendix E based on the Interest in Relief forms received by the Claims

Administrator. If the United States determines that a Claimant who sought Backpay and/or Priority Hire relief is not eligible for such relief, the submissions under this subparagraph shall include the reason(s) for that determination.

c. No later than 135 days after the Date of Entry of this Decree, the City shall notify the United States in writing if it objects to any of the United States' determinations regarding preliminary eligibility for Backpay and/or Priority Hire relief. To the extent that the parties are unable to resolve the City's objections informally, such resolution shall be subject to the dispute resolution procedures in Part IV of this Decree.

7. Filing of Individual Relief Lists

No later than 180 days after the Date of Entry of the Decree, the United States shall file under seal with the Court and serve upon the City: (i) the preliminary Backpay Awards List stating, for each Claimant who timely returned an Interest in Relief form, the share of the Settlement Fund that the United States has determined should be awarded to the Claimant; and (ii) the preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List with individuals listed in alphabetical order by last name. The City shall have a right to respond to unresolved objections to the United States' determinations.

8. Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief

a. Upon filing the lists described in Paragraph 7, above, the United States shall simultaneously move the Court to hold a Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief to allow the Court to determine whether the preliminary Backpay Relief Awards List and

preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List should be approved or amended. The Court will provide the Parties with at least 90 days' notice of the date and time set for the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief.

- b. No later than 60 days before the date set for the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the Claims Administrator shall send, by electronic mail, with tracking capability, to each Claimant at their last known e-mail address: (i) a cover letter, in the format attached as Appendix F, notifying the Claimant of the determinations regarding the Claimant's eligibility for individual relief under the Decree, the reason(s) for any determination that the Claimant is ineligible for any particular form of requested relief, and the Claimant's proposed share of monetary relief as stated on the preliminary Backpay Awards List, if any; and (ii) a Notice of Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, Instructions for Filing an Objection to Individual Relief and an Objection Form, in the formats attached as Appendix G to this Decree. If an e-mail is not opened within seven days of the day it is sent, the Claims Administrator will send the above-referenced materials via certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested.
- c. A Claimant who wishes to object to any determination regarding individual relief as set out in the cover letter (Appendix F) for that Claimant must file written objections as follows:
 - Objections must state the Claimant's name, mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail address, if any; set forth a specific description of the Claimant's basis for disputing the relief determinations in the Backpay Relief Awards Lists;

include copies of all documentation supporting the objections; state the name, mailing and e-mail addresses, and telephone number of the Claimant's counsel, if any; and state whether the Claimant wishes the opportunity to be heard in court at the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief.

- ii. Objections shall be submitted by mailing a copy of the Objection to Determination of Individual Relief form in Appendix G by U.S. mail addressed to the Claims Administrator at the address provided by the Claims Administrator for this purpose.
- iii. Objections must be postmarked to the above address no later than 30 days prior to the date set for the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief.
- iv. The Claims Administrator will promptly e-mail copies of all objections received simultaneously to both the United States and the City, using e-mail addresses to be specified by the Parties.
- d. No later than 21 days prior to the date set for the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the United States shall file with the Court copies of all objections received by the United States. For those objections received less than 21 days prior to the date set for the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the United States shall file copies of objections received on a rolling basis, weekly.
- e. No later than ten days prior to the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the Parties shall file their responses, if any, to all objections.

9. Approval of Final Backpay Awards List and Final Priority Hire Candidate List

- a. At or following the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the Court shall determine whether any objections to the preliminary Backpay Awards List or the preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List are well-founded. The Court may approve the lists as submitted or, if the Court finds that any objection with respect to a Claimant is well founded, shall amend the lists consistent with such finding.
- b. The final Backpay Awards List and final Priority Hire Candidate List as approved by the Court will be final and binding on all Parties and interested persons, including without limitation any Claimant who received the notice provided in Appendix F.
- c. The Court will find that an objection to either the preliminary Backpay Awards List or the preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List, including an objection to the amount of monetary relief to be awarded to a Claimant, is well-founded only if the Court finds that the determination reflected in such list was not reasonable, equitable, or consistent with the provisions of this Decree or Title VII.

10. Notice of Individual Relief Awards and Acceptance and Release

a. No later than 30 days after the Court approves a final Backpay Awards List and a final Priority Hire Candidate List, either at or following the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the Claims Administrator shall provide notice to each Claimant determined by the Court to be entitled to such relief. The notice shall be by e-mail to the last known e-mail address of the Claimant with confirmation of receipt and opening requested. The notice shall include the Notice of Award(s) of Individual Relief in the form set forth in

Appendix H. If the Claimant is eligible to compete for a Priority Hire position, the notice will include a statement of the Claimant's eligibility for such relief, a description of the remainder of the Priority Hire selection process, and the Retroactive Seniority the Claimant will receive if the Claimant is ultimately made and accepts a Priority hire appointment as a fire cadet. If an e-mail is not opened within seven (7) days of the day it is sent, the Claims Administrator will send the notice via certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested. The Claims Administrator shall also provide to the Claimant:

- i. An Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form as described in the following Paragraph of this Decree; and
- ii. Any withholding forms necessary for the City to comply with its withholding obligations under law and Paragraph III.F.2 of this Decree.
- b. As a condition of receiving a monetary award and/or consideration for priority hire, each Claimant otherwise entitled to such relief as indicated in the final Backpay Awards List and final Priority Hire Candidate List shall be required to execute an Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form as set forth in Appendix I of this Decree, along with all withholding forms if the Claimant is eligible for monetary relief, and return them to the Claims Administrator no later than 60 days after the Court approves the final Backpay Awards List and final Priority Hire Candidate List. The date the Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form was mailed or otherwise delivered to the Claims

 Administrator shall be deemed the date of return of the Claimant's form. In the event that an Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form is returned by U.S. mail but no

date of mailing is indicated by a postmark of the United States Postal Service, or if the postmark is illegible, the date of return of the Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form shall be deemed to be five days prior to the date the form was received by the Claims Administrator. A Claimant's failure to return an executed Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form within the time allowed shall constitute a rejection of the offer of relief and shall release the Parties and the Claims Administrator from any further obligation under this Decree to make an award of relief to that Claimant.

- c. No later than 75 days after the Court approves the final Backpay Awards List and final Priority Hire Candidate List, the Claims Administrator shall simultaneously forward to the United States and the City copies of all executed Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims forms and withholding forms it received from Claimants named in those Lists.
- d. If any Claimant listed on the final Backpay Awards List rejects a monetary relief award, the United States shall reallocate the amount of monetary relief allocated to that Claimant to the City for the recruitment of qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the position of fire cadet and/or efforts to expand the pool of qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the position of fire cadet.
- e. No later than 30 days after receiving from the Claims Administrator a Claimant's executed Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims forms and withholding forms under Subparagraph c, above, the City shall mail via certified U.S. mail (return receipt requested) a monetary relief award check to such Claimant. The amount of the monetary relief award check shall be the amount shown for the Claimant on the Final Backpay

Awards List, less all appropriate taxes and other amounts withheld in accordance with Paragraph III.F.2.

- f. No later than 30 days after the mailing of a monetary relief award check to a Claimant pursuant to Subparagraph e, above, the City shall provide to the United States a copy of such monetary check, along with a statement indicating the amounts withheld from such check and the purpose of each withholding.
- g. No later than 30 days after the mailing of all monetary checks required under this

 Paragraph, the City shall provide to the United States a list of all checks that have been
 returned to the City as undeliverable, as well as a statement of the amount of funds
 remaining in the Settlement Fund. For all undelivered checks, if reasonable attempts to
 locate the Claimant prove unsuccessful for 30 days, any amount remaining in the
 Settlement Fund after such attempts will be used by the City for the recruitment of
 qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the position of fire cadet and/or
 efforts to expand the pool of qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the
 position of fire cadet, in a manner consistent with the purposes of this Decree.
- h. No later than 60 days after the mailing of all monetary checks required under this

 Paragraph, the City shall provide to the United States a list of all checks that appear to
 have been delivered (no returned check), but which have not been cashed. The City shall
 mail a letter to such Claimants with un-cashed checks to inform such Claimants that the
 award will be canceled if the check is not cashed within 60 days from the date of that
 letter. The letter shall state that no further warnings regarding such distribution will be

given. If upon the expiration of the 60 days there remain un-cashed checks, the City will provide the United States with a list of all such outstanding checks as well as a statement of the amount of funds remaining in the Settlement Fund. Any amount remaining in the Settlement Fund after such time will revert back to the City for use in the recruitment of qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the position of fire cadet and/or efforts to expand the pool of qualified Hispanic and African-American applicants for the position of fire cadet, in a manner consistent with the purposes of this Decree.

i. The City shall provide an accounting of how the remaining funds (from either undelivered or un-cashed checks) were spent on a quarterly basis, with the first report due 90 days after the initial reversion of funds.

G. RECORD RETENTION AND PRODUCTION

- 1. While this Decree remains in effect, the City shall maintain all of the following records (including those created or maintained in electronic form):
 - a. All applications for fire cadet positions;
 - All non-privileged documents relating to the screening, evaluation or selection of applicants for the position of fire cadet;
 - c. All non-privileged documents known to the City relating to written or verbal complaints made by any person or organization regarding discrimination on the basis of African-American race and/or Hispanic national origin in the appointment of fire cadets;

- d. All non-privileged documents relating to the evaluation, selection, designation, and/or employment of Priority Hires under this Decree; and
- e. All other non-privileged documents relating to the City's compliance with the requirements of this Decree, including but not limited to documents relating to the payment or award of individual relief to any Claimant under this Decree.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in this Decree, the City will make available to the United States, no later than 30 days after the United States so requests in writing, any non-privileged records maintained in accordance with the preceding Paragraph of this Decree and any additional non-privileged documents reasonably relating to any dispute arising under the Decree. If such requests become unduly burdensome on the City, relief may be sought from the Court.
- 3. When possible, without additional expense to the City, all records furnished to the United States shall be provided in a computer-readable format to be agreed upon by the Parties prior to production.

IV. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

A. The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve informally any disputes that arise under this Decree. If the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute expeditiously, either party may submit the disputed issue to the Court for resolution upon 15 days' written notice to the other party, unless a different process or time period is specified in the applicable section of this Decree.

B. Within 30 days after the United States so requests in writing, the City shall make available in Austin for interview or deposition (at the United States' option) any agent, employee or official of the City who the United States reasonably believes has non-privileged knowledge of information necessary to verify the City's compliance with the terms of this Decree or to resolve a dispute arising under this Decree. If, after completing discovery, the United States maintains that the City has not complied with the Decree or the dispute still exists, within ten days after the United States communicates that fact to the City, the City may interview or depose any witness with knowledge regarding the matter in dispute. Under no circumstances may the City interview or depose any officials, agents or employees of the U.S. Department of Justice in this process in the absence of further Court order for good cause shown.

V. DURATION OF CONSENT DECREE

- A. Unless otherwise ordered by this Court, and absent the pendency of any motion related to this Decree, this Decree shall expire without further order of the Court on the last to occur of the following events:
 - Upon fulfillment of the Parties' obligations regarding the individual relief to be awarded under this Decree;
 - 30 days after the establishment of a final eligibility list based on the second administration of the entry-level firefighter examination following the Date of Entry of this Decree; or

- 3. Four years from the entry of the Decree.
- B. If neither (1) nor (2) has occurred after the passage of four years from the Date of Entry of the Decree, either Party may move the Court for a status hearing to determine a procedure and timeline for fulfilling the Parties' obligations under this Decree. If both (1) and (2) have occurred and four years from the Date of Entry of the Decree have passed, either Party may move to extend the Decree upon good cause shown. Through that process, the Decree may be extended for up to, and no more than, eight years from the Date of Entry of this Decree. Extensions may be granted in increments as long as the final dissolution date is not later than eight (8) years from the Date of Entry of this Decree.

VI. COSTS AND FEES

- A. Except as otherwise provided herein, each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred as a result of obligations imposed by this Decree, including the cost of all notification and publication procedures described above, which will be borne by the City.
- B. Each party shall bear its own costs, expenses, and attorney's fees incurred in this litigation.

VII. MISCELLANEOUS

A. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this Decree for the purpose of resolving any disputes or entering any orders that may be appropriate to implement the Decree.

DRAFT 4/29/2014

B. The Parties shall, at a minimum, meet quarterly (in person or by telephone, at the option

of the Parties) to discuss any issues relevant to implementation of the Decree.

C. To the extent of any conflict between this Decree and the requirements of any state or

local law or regulation, the terms of this Decree shall control.

D. This Decree constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties, and supersedes all prior

agreements, representations, negotiations, and undertakings not set forth or incorporated

herein.

E. Unless the United States has given express prior authorization for communication by

other means, all written information and documents required to be delivered under this

Decree to the United States by the City shall be sent via overnight delivery to:

Austin Fire Department Settlement Team

Employment Litigation Section

U.S. Department of Justice

Civil Rights Division

PHB, Room 4500

601 D Street NW

Washington, DC 20579

F. Unless the City has given express prior authorization for communication by other means,

all written information and documents required to be delivered under this Decree to the

City by the United States shall be sent via overnight delivery to:

City of Austin Law Department

Attention: City Attorney

Post Office Box 1088

Austin, Texas 78767-1088

Page 41 of 43

Entry of this Consent Decree by the Court is approved and requested by the Parties as of the dates of their signatures below.

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

JOCELYN SAMUELS Acting Assistant Attorney General Civil Rights Division

United States Department of Justice

By:

DELORA L. KENNEBREW

Chief

Employment Litigation Section

SHAYNA BLOOM

Trial Attorney
United States Department of Justice
Civil Rights Division
Employment Litigation Section
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, PHB 4500
Washington, DC 20530

Telephone: (202) 514-3831 Fax: (202) 514-1005

E-mail: shayna.bloom@usdoj.gov

Date: ______, 2014

THE CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

DRAFT 4/29/2014

By:			
•			
D 4	,	2014	

APPENDIX A - DEFINITIONS

- "Backpay" means a monetary award that represents the value of some or all of the wages that
 a Claimant would have received if he or she had been hired into the position of fire cadet on
 the Claimant's presumptive appointment date.
- "Claimant" means an African American of Hispanic applicant in the City's 2012 fire cadet
 hiring process who completed the NFSI written cognitive-behavioral assessment in that
 hiring process, and who submits a timely Interest in Relief form pursuant to Paragraph III.F.4
 of this Decree.
- 3. "Days" refers to calendar days unless business days are clearly specified in the context of a specific provision of this Decree. If any deadline referenced in this Decree should fall on a weekend or federal holiday, the deadline shall be moved to the next business day.
- 4. "Date of Entry" of the Decree refers to the date on which the Court orders entry of the Decree following the Fairness Hearing on the Terms of the Consent Decree described in Part III.D of this Decree.
- 5. "Fire Cadet" means a person hired to a fire cadet position by the City of Austin, regardless of whether the person also may be called by another title until the person has completed any applicable probationary period.
- 6. "Firefighter" means any person employed in the Fire Department of the City of Austin in a job position that is covered under the terms of the current Austin Fire Department classification ordinance passed by the Austin City Council.

- 7. "Individual relief" refers to a monetary award in the form of backpay and/or an offer of consideration for priority appointment relief, including retroactive seniority, that a Claimant may receive pursuant to the terms of this Decree.
- 8. "Priority Hire" means a fire cadet job position that is filled under the procedures in Appendix E and entitled to an award of Retroactive Seniority.
- 9. "Retroactive Seniority" refers to service credit as an Austin Fire Department employee that a Claimant who fills a Priority Hire job position is eligible to receive. Retroactive Seniority does not excuse the eligibility requirements for promotion under Texas Local Government Code Chapter 143.028. Retroactive Seniority has two components:
 - a. A retroactive hire date, which is based on the date the Claimant would have first began working for the Austin Fire Department as a fire cadet, and shall be used for all purposes for which hire date seniority is used, including without limitation calculating the employee's longevity pay under Fire Department policy; and
 - b. A retroactive commission date, which is based on the date the Claimant would have been commissioned as a firefighter following graduation from the fire cadet academy, and shall be used for all purposes for which commission date seniority is used, including without limitation calculating base pay, leave accruals, and positioning for reduction-inforce.

The retroactive hire dates and retroactive commission dates for Claimants entitled to receive Retroactive Seniority under Paragraph III.F.5.k of this Decree are:

	Retroactive Hire Date	Retroactive Commission Date
First 6 African American and first 9 Hispanic Claimants eligible for Retroactive Seniority	November 18, 2012	June 2, 2013
Remaining Claimants eligible for Retroactive Seniority	January 14, 2013	July 28, 2013

Retroactive Seniority shall not be used to shorten any applicable probationary period or timein-grade requirement for promotion eligibility, and shall not result in a Claimant receiving any retroactive leave accrual.

10. "Selection device" means either: any examination, test, requirement, or criterion used to evaluate a person's qualifications for appointment to the position of fire cadet (*e.g.*, application, written examination, oral interview, physical examination, background investigation, etc.); or the design of a fire cadet selection process or manner of using any such examination, test, requirement, or criterion.

APPENDIX B – INTERIM HIRING PROCESS UNDER PART III.C.2

- 1. The City will consider all 2013 fire cadet applicants who completed both the NELF and oral assessments for hire under this interim process. No other individuals may be considered or hired as a fire cadet under this process, except as provided in Appendix E hereto.
- 2. Although the parties agree that equally valid alternatives exist that result in less adverse impact, they also recognize that the City may have immediate hiring needs that require development of an eligibility list before the City has had the opportunity to develop the new selection device anticipated under this Agreement. Under these circumstances, the City may, but is not required to, meet its immediate hiring needs using the 2013 selection devices. Specifically, the City will use all five of the NELF subtests of the 2013 fire cadet applicants, with each of the five subtests contributing equally to NELF scores. Candidate scores on those subtests, as reported by the vendor, will be the candidates' NELF scores for purposes of the Interim Hiring Process. The City will combine the NELF scores with the oral assessment scores from the 2013 process into a weighted composite score for each candidate computed as follows:

weighted composite score = $(NELF percent score \times 20\%) + (oral assessment percent score \times 80\%)$

If the applicant has military service acceptable under the City's original 2013 hiring criteria, three points shall be added to the applicant's weighted composite score to form the applicant's total score.

- 3. The City will create a preliminary eligibility list consisting of the total scores of the applicants, computed as provided in Paragraph 2, above, and rank-ordered from the highest to the lowest score.
- 4. The City shall select candidates in descending rank-order (ties shall be randomly broken) from the preliminary eligibility list for the final pre-hire assessments.
- 5. The final pre-hire assessments shall include a physical ability test, medical examination, treadmill test, psychological examination, drug test, and criminal background check. These assessments shall be administered by the City under the same standards as the City administers such assessments to other fire cadet candidates, and shall be evaluated on a passfail basis. All applicants will be required to pass each assessment in order to remain eligible for hire in this process.
- 6. All applicants who pass all of the final pre-hire assessments shall be placed on a final eligibility list (the "Interim Hiring Eligibility List") in rank order according to their weighted composite scores computed as provided in Paragraph 2, above. The Interim Hiring Eligibility List shall be used to the extent that the City has exigent hiring needs, but shall remain in effect only until such time as the City publishes an eligibility list based on a hiring process developed and administered in accord with Paragraph III.C.6 of this Decree. At that time the Interim Hiring Eligibility List shall terminate. While the Interim Hiring Eligibility List is in effect, the City may make fire cadet job offers to applicants in the order they appear on that list, beginning with the first name on the list. The City may use this interim hiring process to fill a maximum of 90 positions in future fire cadet academies commenced after the

Date of Entry of this Decree, as long as any such academies commence no more than one calendar year from the date of final entry of this Decree.

7. The City shall respond promptly to any relevant information requests from the United States concerning the administration of this process. The Parties shall meet and confer in good faith concerning any disagreement over the administration of this process prior to seeking enforcement or intervention by the Court.

APPENDIX C

NOTICE OF SETTLEMENT AND FAIRNESS HEARING

On _______, the United States and the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") executed a settlement of a lawsuit filed by the United States in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas. In its Complaint, the United States alleges that the City has engaged in unlawful employment practices by utilizing selection procedures that have the effect of depriving or tending to deprive African Americans and Hispanics of employment opportunities because of their race and/or national origin, in violation of Section 703(a) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). Specifically, the United States alleges that in 2012, the City's (1) pass/fail use of an entry-level fire cadet written cognitive-behavioral examination and (2) certification of entry-level fire cadet applicants in descending rank order based on a combination of applicants' written cognitive-behavioral examination scores and other selection devices have resulted in a disparate impact upon African-American and Hispanic applicants for the entry-level fire cadet position in Austin. The United States further alleges that the City's uses of the written cognitive-behavioral examination and selection of candidates in descending rank order have not been shown to be sufficiently job related for the position of fire cadet and consistent with business necessity, as required by federal law.

The United States alleges only disparate impact discrimination. The United States does not allege that the City has intentionally discriminated against any person or group of persons.

The City denies that it has violated Title VII. However, in the interest of resolving this matter and to promote the purposes of Title VII, the United States and the City have voluntarily entered into a Consent Decree ("Decree") settling the lawsuit.

The terms of the Decree include an agreement by the City that it will allow the United States to review future procedures to be used in the selection of applicants for hiring into the entry-level fire cadet position. The City also has agreed to provide \$780,000 in backpay to be available to be distributed among African-American and Hispanic Claimants who were determined to have been adversely affected by 2012 selection procedure. Per the Decree, "Claimant" refers to any African-American or Hispanic person who passed the Integrity Inventory in 2012, and took the written cognitive-behavioral examination in 2012, and either: (1) was considered by the City to have failed the written cognitive-behavioral examination because of receiving a score of less than 70; (2) was not permitted to proceed to the Structured Oral Interview because the person was not in the top 1,500 scorers on the written cognitive-behavioral examination, was in the top 1,500 scorers on that examination, completed the Structured Oral Interview, but ranked below the last applicant appointed from the 2012 eligibility list.

The City also has agreed to certify Claimants for priority appointment until a minimum of, and no more than, 30 priority hires have been made pursuant to the Decree. To be eligible for a priority appointment, a Claimant must have taken the 2012 cognitive-behavioral test and

passed the Integrity Inventory that year. Those eligible and interested will be invited to participate in a new competitive and job-related fire cadet selection process that is developed pursuant to the Decree and is lawful under Title VII. If appointed by the City through that process, these individuals would be awarded retroactive seniority based upon the appointment dates of those who were previously hired based on the 2012 test, with half of the priority hires receiving a retroactive hire date of November 18, 2012 and a retroactive commission date of June 2, 2013, and the other half of the priority hires receiving a retroactive hire date of January 14, 2013 and a retroactive commission date of July 28, 2013. Retroactive seniority awarded will not be applied toward time-in-grade requirements for promotional eligibility.

The Decree is publicly available on the City of Austin, Texas website at www and on the Department of Justice website at http://www.justice.gov/ Copies of the Decree also are available from the Office of the City Attorney of Austin, Texas, located at
The Decree has been entered by Order of the Court provisionally, and the parties now have requested that the Court hold a "Fairness Hearing" to determine whether the terms of the Decree are fair, reasonable, equitable and otherwise consistent with federal law. This Fairness Hearing will be held on [insert date] at [time], at the
In addition, you have the right to submit a written objection to any of the terms of the Decree that you believe are unfair or unlawful. Instructions for filing an objection are enclosed with this notice. Making an objection is voluntary, but if you do not object at this time, you may be prohibited from taking any action against this Decree in the future. Any objection you wish to make must be submitted to the Claims Administrator as described in the following pages of this Notice by no later than

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING AN OBJECTION PRIOR TO THE FAIRNESS HEARING

- 1. If you believe the terms of the Consent Decree are unfair, unreasonable or unlawful, you may object to its final entry by the Court. Making an objection is voluntary, but if you do not object at this time, you will be prohibited from taking any action against this Consent Decree in the future. If you decide to object, you must follow the instructions set out on this page. If you choose to object, the judge will consider your objection before deciding whether to approve the terms of the Consent Decree.
- 2. **All objections must be made in writing.** Your objection must be made using the attached form. You must fill out the form completely. You must include a description of the basis of your objection. If you have retained an attorney to assist you in this matter, indicate with your objection the name, address and phone number of your attorney. You may attach additional pages to the caption page/form if necessary.
- 3. All objections must be sent by U.S. mail and postmarked by no later than [insert date]. If your objection is not postmarked by this date, your objection may not be considered and you may be prohibited from objecting at a later time.
- 4. You must submit one copy of your objection to the following address:

Austin Fire Department Settlement [Claims Administrator] [Claims Administrator address]

5.	The Court will hold the Fairness Hearing on [insert date] . You may attend this
	hearing if you wish, but you need not attend to have the Court consider any written
	objections you submit.

6.	If you have any questions concerning the procedure to submit an objection, you may
	consult with an attorney of your own choosing and at your own expense, or you may call
	the Employment Litigation Section of the Civil Rights Division of the Department of
	Justice at 1-800, select mailbox option number If you do call this number,
	please leave your name, Social Security Number, telephone number and a time when you
	can be reached. Your call will be returned as soon as possible.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)	
Plaintiff,)) Civil Action No.:	
THE CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS,)))	
Defendant.)	
OBJECTION TO THE EN	NTRY OF THE CONSENT DECREE	
I am objecting to the terms of settle agreed to by the United States and the City	ement of this case included in the Consent Decree of Austin, Texas.	
Name:	Attorney's name (if any):	
Address:	Attorney's address:	
-	Attorney's Telephone:	
Your E-Mail Address:		
Basis of my objection:		
Are you requesting the opportunity for you objection in person at the Fairness Hearing [] Yes []]		

YOU MAY USE ADDITIONAL PAGES TO EXPLAIN THE BASIS OF YOUR OBJECTION IF NECESSARY. YOU MUST SEND YOUR OBJECTION TO THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AT THE ADDRESS PROVIDED IN THE INSTRUCTIONS. YOUR

OBJECTION MUST BE POSTMARKED BY [INSERT DATE].

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)		
)		
Plaintiff,)		
v.)	Civil Action No.:	
)		
THE CITY OF AUSTIN,)		
TEXAS,)		
)		
Defendant.)		

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF CONSENT DECREE

On <u>[insert date]</u>, a Consent Decree resolving a lawsuit between the United States and the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") was entered by the Court. **As a result, you may be eligible for backpay and/or a priority appointment as an entry-level fire cadet, with retroactive seniority**.

The Consent Decree settles a lawsuit filed by the United States in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas. In its Complaint, the United States alleges that the City has engaged in unlawful employment practices by utilizing selection procedures that have the effect of depriving or tending to deprive African Americans and Hispanics of employment opportunities because of their race and/or national origin, in violation of Section 703(a) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). Specifically, the United States alleges that since 2012, the City's (1) pass/fail use of an entry-level fire cadet written cognitive-behavioral examination and (2) certification of entry-level fire cadet applicants in descending rank order based on a combination of applicants' written cognitive-behavioral examination scores and other components have resulted in a disparate impact upon African-American and/or Hispanic applicants for the entry-level fire cadet position in Austin. The United States further alleges that the City's practices have not been shown to be sufficiently job related for the position of entry-level fire cadet and consistent with business necessity, as required by federal law.

The United States alleges only disparate impact discrimination. The United States does not allege that the City has intentionally discriminated against any person or group of persons.

The City denies that it has violated Title VII. However, in the interest of resolving this matter and to promote the purposes of Title VII, the United States and the City have voluntarily entered into a Consent Decree ("Decree") settling the lawsuit.

Under the terms of the Decree:

- The City will allow the United States to review future procedures to be used in the selection of applicants for hiring into the entry-level fire cadet position.
- The City also agrees to provide a total of \$780,000 in backpay available to be distributed among African-American and Hispanic applicants from its 2012 hiring process who were determined to have been adversely affected by the City's practices.
- The City also agrees to appoint a total of 30 applicants from its 2012 hiring process to fire cadet positions on a priority basis in the future. These priority appointments will include 12 African American applicants and 18 Hispanic applicants from the City's 2012 hiring process. To be eligible for a such an appointment, an African American or Hispanic applicant from the 2012 hiring process must have taken the 2012 cognitive-behavioral test and passed the Integrity Inventory that year. Those eligible and interested will be invited to participate in a new lawful competitive selection process developed pursuant to the Decree. If appointed by the City through that process, these individuals would be awarded retroactive seniority based upon the appointment dates of those who were previously hired based on the 2012 test, with half of the priority hires receiving a retroactive hire date of November 18, 2012 and a retroactive commission date of June 2, 2013, and the other half of the priority hires receiving a retroactive hire date of January 14, 2013 and a retroactive commission date of July 28, 2013. Retroactive seniority awarded will not be applied toward time-in-grade requirements for promotional eligibility.

Under the Decree, persons eligible for backpay and/or priority appointment (referred to as "Claimants") include all African-American and Hispanic persons who applied for a fire cadet position in the City's 2012 hiring process, passed the Integrity Inventory examination in that process, took the written cognitive-behavioral examination in that process, and either:

- 1. Were considered by the City to have failed the written cognitive-behavioral examination because of receiving a score of less than 70;
- 2. Were not permitted to proceed to the Structured Oral Interview because they were not in the top 1,500 scorers on the written cognitive-behavioral examination or
- 3. Scored at least 70 on the cognitive-behavioral examination, were in the top 1,500 scorers on that examination and participated in the Structured Oral Interview, but ranked below the last applicant appointed from the 2012 eligibility list.

You are being sent this Notice because you have been preliminarily deemed to be a "Claimant," which would make you eligible for backpay and/or priority appointment consideration under the Decree.

If you wish to request backpay consideration and/or consideration for priority appointment, you must fill out the Interest in Relief form enclosed with this notice and return it by U.S. mail no later than <u>[insert date]</u> to:

Austin Fire Department Settlement [Claims Administrator] [Claims Administrator address]

If you have any questions about how to submit a claim, or whether you may be eligible, you may consult with an attorney of your own choosing and at your own expense, or you may call the Employment Litigation Section of the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice at 1-800-_____, select mailbox option number ___. If you do call this number, please leave your name, Social Security Number, address and telephone number and times when you can be reached. Your call will be returned as soon as possible.

SUBMITTING THE CLAIM FORM BY <u>[insert date]</u>, DOES NOT GUARANTEE THAT YOU ARE ENTITLED TO OR WILL RECEIVE ANY RELIEF. HOWEVER, **IF YOU FAIL TO SUBMIT A CLAIM FORM BY** <u>[insert date]</u> **YOU WILL BE BARRED FROM OBTAINING RELIEF.**

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)
Plaintiff,	
v.) Civil Action No.:
THE CITY OF AUSTIN,)
TEXAS,)
)
Defendant.)
INTERE	EST IN RELIEF FORM
agreed to by the United States and the Ci	priority appointment relief under the Consent Decree ity of Austin, and entered by the Court in the above-and returning this form, I certify that the information
PART I. GENERAL INFORMATIO	ON:*
Print Name:	Social Security Number:
Other name(s) used:	Address:
Telephone:	
E-Mail Address:	
submit this form, please contact the Cl	g your mailing address, changes at any time after you laims Administrator at Otherwise, t the backpay and priority hire award process.
1. I am either African America	an or Hispanic (check which applies).
2. I applied for, but have not been o part of the City's 2012 hiring pro	ffered, the position of entry-level fire cadet in Austin as cess.
3. I am making a request for (check	one): [] backpay [] priority appointment [] both

PART II. BACK PAY REQUEST:

(Complete this Part II if you are requesting a backpay award)

In connection with my 2012 application (check one of the following:):
I passed the Integrity Inventory cognitive-behavioral examination	examination but scored less than 70 on the on.
	examination and scored 70 or more on the on, but was not invited to take the Structured Oral
behavioral examination, and too	examination, scored 70 or more on the cognitive- ok the Structured Oral Interview examination, but hired from the 2012 eligibility list.
I do not know my 2012 examina Please verify my eligibility for a	ation score(s), but I request an award of backpay. a backpay award.
PART III. PRIORITY HIRE REQUEST: (Complete this Part III if you are requesting to	a priority hire position)
In connection with my 2012 application (check <u>one</u> of the following:):
examination, and I was not prod	examination, took the cognitive-behavioral cessed through any of the pre-hire assessments that onal job offer letter from the City.
	y Inventory results, but I request a priority hire bility for a priority hire position.
PART IV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
if asked. I also understand that I will be requirelease of all claims I may have that are part of	ct. I understand that additional information requested, and I agree to provide such information ired to sign and mail to the Claims Administrator a of this case, and that the Claims Administrator's eceiving an award of backpay or the chance to
Dated:, 2014	
	Signature

APPENDIX E – PRIORITY HIRE PROCEDURES UNDER PART III.F.5

- 1. These procedures govern the development of Priority Hire Lists under this Decree. No Claimant shall be counted as a Priority Hire for purposes of satisfying the City's obligations under Paragraph III.F(5) of this Decree unless the Claimant is offered and accepts a position following placement on a Priority Hire List under these procedures.
- 2. Persons eligible for potential placement on a Priority Hire List shall be those Claimants who are listed on the final Priority Hire Candidate List approved by the Court pursuant to Paragraph III.F.9 and who returned an executed Acceptance of Relief and Release of Claims form as set forth in Paragraph III.F.10 of the Decree.
- 3. Upon receipt of the preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List described in Paragraph III.F.6 of the Decree, the City may initiate the priority hire selection process using the new, lawful selection process the City is required to have designed and to implement under Paragraph III.C.6 of the Decree. The City may by written notice invite the individuals on the preliminary Priority Hire Candidate List to participate in competitive assessments under the new, lawful selection process prior to approval by the Court of the final Priority Hire Candidate List under Paragraph III.F.9 of the Decree. However, the City may not conduct final pre-hire assessments under Paragraph 5, below, or establish the priority hire lists described in Paragraph 9, below, prior to Court approval of the final Priority Hire Candidate List under Paragraph III.F.9 of the Decree.

- 4. Upon Court approval of the final Priority Hire Candidate List under Paragraph III.F.9 of the Decree, the City shall promptly complete the priority hire selection process. From among all Priority Hire Candidates who successfully complete the competitive assessments under that hiring process, the City shall send a notice inviting the 24 African-American Claimants with the highest total scores among African Americans, and the 36 Hispanic Claimants with the highest total scores among Hispanics, to complete the final pre-hire assessments.
- 5. The final pre-hire assessments shall include a physical ability test, medical examination, treadmill test, psychological assessment, criminal background check, and drug screen. These assessments shall be administered under the same standards as the City administers such assessments to other fire cadet candidates, and shall be evaluated on a pass-fail basis. Each Claimant must pass each part of the final pre-hire assessments in order to remain eligible for a Priority Hire position.
- 6. A Claimant who receives a notice to participate in the priority hire selection process as provided in Paragraphs 3 or 4, above, but who fails to respond to the notice or to appear as scheduled for any of the final pre-hire assessments, is disqualified from eligibility for a Priority Hire position.
- 7. The City shall provide the United States with written notice of any Claimant who fails any part of a final pre-hire assessment under Paragraphs 3 or 5, above, along with an explanation of the reasons for the failure. The United States shall have ten business days to object in writing to any such failure notice received from the City. If the United States objects to a written failure notice, the Parties shall meet and confer to resolve the dispute. If the Parties

cannot resolve the dispute within fifteen business days, the United States may refer the dispute to the Court within five business days after resolution efforts fail for determination.

- 8. In the event of a sustained disqualification of an African-American Claimant, the City shall send notice as described in Paragraph 4, above, to the African-American Claimant with the next highest total score among African-Americans to complete the final pre-hire assessments. In the event of a sustained disqualification of a Hispanic Claimant, the City shall send a notice as described in Paragraph 4, above, to the Hispanic Claimant with the next highest total score among Hispanics to complete the final pre-hire assessments. 6
- 9. The City shall place all African American Claimants who successfully pass all final pre-hire assessments on an eligibility list (the "African American Priority Hire List") in rank order based on their total scores. The City shall place all Hispanic Claimants who successfully pass all final pre-hire assessments on an eligibility list (the "Hispanic Priority Hire List") in rank order based on their total scores. Priority hires will be made as set forth in Section III, Subparagraph F.5, above.

_

⁶ If the replacement candidate is the subject of a sustained disqualification, this process will be repeated.

APPENDIX F – LETTER TO CLAIMANTS

[Cla	imant	name & address]
	Re:	United States v. City of Austin, Texas, Civ. Action No (W.D. Tex.)
Dea	r	:
Tex: mad	er the to as, Civ e conc	s notice is in response to the Interest in Relief form that you previously submitted terms of the Consent Decree entered by the Court in <u>United States v. City of Austin</u> , . Action No (W.D. Tex.). Certain preliminary determinations have been terning your eligibility for the relief you requested in that form. Please read the very carefully.
		PAY. Based upon your Interest in Relief form, the United States has made a nary determination that you [] are [] are not eligible for an award of backpay.
	•	If eligible, the amount of backpay for which you are eligible is [\$], less required tax withholdings.
	•	If not eligible for an award of backpay, the reason(s) for this determination are:

- **2. PRIORITY HIRE.** Based on your Interest in Relief form, the parties have made a preliminary determination that you [] are [] are not eligible for further consideration for a priority hire position. Please note:
 - If eligible, this does <u>not</u> ensure that you will receive a priority hire job position. The City of Austin will conduct an assessment process among all eligible 2012 fire cadet candidates to determine which will receive priority hire positions in a future Austin Fire Dept. cadet academy. You will receive additional information about that assessment process in a separate letter.
 - If you receive a priority hire position through the assessment process described above, and you successfully complete the fire cadet academy training, you will receive a retroactive hire date of November 18, 2012 and a retroactive commission date of June 2, 2013 **OR** a retroactive hire date of January 14, 2013 and a retroactive commission date of July 28, 2013.

•	If not eligible for a priority hire position, the reason(s) for this determination are:

- 3. FAIRNESS HEARING. In addition to the determinations indicated above, the United States and the City have made preliminary determinations regarding the nature and amount of relief that each of the other individuals who submitted an Interest in Relief form should receive under the Consent Decree. The United States will ask the Court to approve all of these preliminary determinations at a Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief which will be held on [insert date], at the United States Courthouse, 501 West 5th Street, Austin, Texas 78701. You have the right to attend this Fairness Hearing. At or after the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief, the Court may approve the United States' determinations or may adjust them with respect to you and/or other Claimants under the procedures set forth in the Consent Decree.
- 4. OBJECTIONS TO THIS PRELIMINARY DETERMINATION. If you wish to object to any of the determinations described in this letter in any respect, you must take action, as explained in the enclosed "INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING AN OBJECTION TO INDIVIDUAL RELIEF." Making an objection is voluntary, but if you do not object at this time, you may be prohibited from objecting in the future. You may request an opportunity to be heard at the Fairness Hearing, but you do not need to appear at the Fairness Hearing for the Court to consider your objections.

Sincerely,

Employment Litigation Section Civil Rights Division United States Department of Justice

Enclosures: Instructions for Filing an Objection to Individual Relief

Objection to Determination of Individual Relief

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING AN OBJECTION TO INDIVIDUAL RELIEF

- 1. If you wish to object in any respect to the preliminary determinations regarding the relief to which you are entitled under the Consent Decree, you must do so in the manner described below. Making an objection is voluntary, but if you do not object at this time, you will be prohibited from objecting in the future. If you choose to make an objection, the judge will consider your objection before deciding whether to approve the types and amounts of relief to be provided to you and other individuals under the Consent Decree.
- 2. All objections must be sent by U.S. mail and postmarked by no later than <u>[insert date]</u>. If your objection is not postmarked by this date, your objection may not be considered and you may be prohibited from objecting at a later time.
- 3. **All objections must be made in writing.** Your objection must be made on the attached form, showing the caption of the case. You must fill out this form completely. You must include a description of the nature and basis of your objection. If you have retained an attorney to assist you in this matter, please indicate with your objection the name, address and phone number of your attorney. You may attach additional pages to the form if necessary.
- 4. You must submit your objection to:

Austin Fire Department Settlement [Claims Administrator] [Claims Administrator address]

- 5. The court will hold the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief on **[insert date]** at the United States Courthouse, 501 West 5th Street, Austin, Texas 78701. You may attend this hearing if you wish, but need not attend the hearing to have the Court consider any written objections you submit.
- 6. If you have any questions concerning the procedure for submitting an objection, you may consult with an attorney of your own choosing and at your own expense, or you may call the Employment Litigation Section of the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice at 1-800-______, select mailbox option number ___. If you do call this number, please leave your name, address, and telephone number and a time when you can be reached. Your call will be returned as soon as possible.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)
Plaintiff, v.)) Civil Action No.:
THE CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS,)))
Defendant.)
OBJECTION TO DETER	MINATION OF INDIVIDUAL RELIEF
I have received a notice advising	me of a preliminary determination on my eligibility for
an award of either backpay, consideration	n for a priority hire position, or both, made under the
Consent Decree entered by the Court in the	his case on, 2014. I object to this
preliminary determination for the reasons	s set out below.
I. GENERAL INFORMATION	
Name:please print	Attorney's name (if any):
Address:	Attorney's address:
	<u> </u>
Telephone:	Attorney's Telephone:
E-Mail Address:	

II. OBJECTION(S) TO THE PRELIMINARY DETERMINATION

Reason(s) for my objection(s):
USE ADDITIONAL PAGES TO EXPLAIN THE BASIS OF YOUR OBJECTION IF NECESSARY
YOU MUST ATTACH A COPY OF ANY DOCUMENTS YOU HAVE THAT SUPPORT YOUR OBJECTIONS.
Are you requesting the opportunity for you (or your attorney if you have one) to state your objection in person at the Fairness Hearing on Individual Relief?
[] Yes [] No
[Note: even if you choose not to state your objection in person at the hearing, the Court will still consider your objection based on the information you provide in this form.]
YOU MUST SEND YOUR OBJECTION(S) TO THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AT THE ADDRESS PROVIDED IN THE INSTRUCTIONS. YOUR OBJECTION MUST BE POSTMARKED BY <u>DATE</u>].
I certify that the information in this form is true and correct. I understand that additional information regarding my eligibility for an award may be requested, and I agree to provide such information if asked. I also understand that I will be required to sign a release of all claims I may have that are part of this case as a condition of receiving an award of backpay or the chance to compete for a priority hire position.
Date:, 2014
Claimant Signature , 201
Print Name

APPENDIX H

NOTICE OF AWARD(S) OF INDIVIDUAL RELIEF

Re:	United States of America vs. City of Austin, Texas Case No (U.S. Dist. Ct. W.D. Tex.)
You as award	On <u>[insert date]</u> , the Court approved a final Backpay Awards List and final Priority andidate List pursuant to the Consent Decree entered by the Court earlier in this case. The receiving this Notice because the Court has determined that you are eligible for an of backpay, or eligible to participate in a priority hire selection process, or both. SE READ THIS NOTICE CAREFULLY.
I. BA	CKPAY
	The Court has determined that you <u>are</u> eligible to receive an award of backpay in this The amount of this award is shown in the enclosed Acceptance of Back Pay and Release of s form. To receive this backpay award, you <u>must</u> :
a.	Fill out completely the enclosed Acceptance of Back Pay and Release of Claims form, including all requested information, initial the first page of the form, and sign it.
b.	Fill out completely the enclosed tax withholding forms, so that appropriate withholdings for taxes, FICA and Medicare may be made from the backpay award.
c.	Return the completed Acceptance of Back Pay and Release of Claims form and tax withholding forms to [Claims Administrator] no later than <u>[insert date]</u> . Send these documents by U.S. mail to:
	[Claims Administrator] [Claims Administrator address]
	Note: if your signed documents are not <u>postmarked</u> by, 2014, your backpay award may be forfeited.

II. PRIORITY HIRE SELECTION PROCESS

The Court has determined that you [] are or [] are not eligible to participate in a priority hire selection process in this case.

If the Court has determined that you are <u>not</u> eligible to participate in the priority hire selection process, you do not need to take further action regarding this selection process.

If the Court has determined that you <u>are</u> eligible to participate in the priority hire selection process, the City of Austin will send you additional information about this selection process.

NOTE: regardless of whether you are eligible to participate in the priority hire selection process, you still need to complete and return the enclosed forms as described in Part I., above, in order to receive a backpay award.

III. FURTHER INFORMATION

If you have questions about the information in this notice, or how to submit the documents described above, you may consult with an attorney or advisor of your own choosing and at your own expense, or you may call the Employment Litigation Section of the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice at 1-800-_____, and select mailbox option number ___. If you do call this number, please leave your name, Social Security Number, address and telephone number and a time when you can be reached. Your call will be returned as soon as possible.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS AUSTIN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,)
)
Plaintiff,)
v.) Civil Action No.:
THE CARL OF A MICHAL	
THE CITY OF AUSTIN,)
TEXAS,)
Defendant.)
	OR CONSIDERATION FOR PRIORITY HIRE D RELEASE OF CLAIMS
I,[insert name] Department of Justice of the backpay award Consent Decree entered by the Court on[in	, have received notice from the United States offered to me pursuant to the provisions of the in the above-named lawsuit.
The BACK PAY AWARD I am being offer	red consists of:
[insert amount]	dollars (\$,), less required tax
withholdings	
I ACCEPT THIS AWA	ARD.
INITIAL HERE:	
[Add where applicable:]	
considered for a priority appointment to the hire date of November 18, 2012 and a retroa	, also am being offered the opportunity to be position of entry-level fire cadet with a retroactive active commission date of June 2, 2013 OR and a retroactive commission date of July 28, 2013.
I ACCEPT THIS AWA	ARD.
INITIAL HERE:	

In consideration for this award of the relief stated above, I fully and finally release the City of Austin, Texas and all prior and current elected and appointed officials thereof, and their employees, agents, attorneys, successors, and assigns from all legal and equitable claims based upon alleged discrimination on the basis of race and/or national origin with respect to the appointment of African-American and Hispanic applicants into the position of entry-level fire cadet in violation of any federal or state statutes, regulations or executive orders providing for or giving rise to claims or rights of action relating to equal employment, including Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq., that were, or could have been, the subject of the above-described lawsuit, of which I am aware, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence could have been aware. The above-named lawsuit was resolved by entry of the Consent Decree by the Court on [insert date]

The release of claims contained herein is not conditioned on my receipt of any other relief under the Consent Decree. Specifically, I understand that, although I may or may not be eligible for priority appointment relief with a retroactive seniority date, I am not assured that I will be offered a position as an entry-level fire cadet under the Consent Decree even if I am eligible for such relief.

I understand that I must properly and completely fill out this Acceptance of Back Pay and Consideration for Priority Appointment and Release of Claims form, initial the first page of this form, sign the form and return it to the Claims Administrator no later than [insert date] in order to receive the relief award.

I also understand that **I must complete and return the enclosed tax forms** so that appropriate withholdings for taxes, FICA and Medicare may be made from the monetary award.

I HAVE READ THIS ACCEPTANCE OF BACK PAY AND CONSIDERATION FOR PRIORITY APPOINTMENT AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS FORM AND UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS THEREOF. I SIGN THIS FORM OF MY OWN FREE ACT AND DEED.

Date Signed		Signature	
(Street Address)	(City)	(State)	(Zip code)
() (Home Telephone)		()	(Work Telephone)
(Social Security Number)			
Your E-Mail Address:			

If your contact information, including your mailing address, changes at any time after submit this form, please contact the Claims Administrator at Otherwise, we may be unable to contact you during future steps in the award process.				
Return this form and tax form to:				
	Austin Fire Department Settlement			
	[Claims Administrator]			
	[Claims Administrator address]			